
 
 

OHIO CONSTITUTIONAL MODERNIZATION COMMISSION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Legislative Branch and Executive Branch Committee 

 

Frederick E. Mills, Chair 

Hon. Paula Brooks, Vice-chair 

 

 
 

 

Part I 
 

 

 

 

January 12, 2017 

 

Ohio Statehouse 

Room 018 

 



Chair Mr. Fred Mills

Vice-chair Ms. Paula Brooks

Mr. Herb Asher

Sen. Bill Coley

Mr.  Mike Curtin

Ms. Jo Ann Davidson

Rep. Robert McColley

Gov. Bob Taft

Ms. Petee Talley

Sen. Charleta Tavares

Ms. Kathleen Trafford

For Internet Access in the Ohio Statehouse: select "oga" from the list of network options.

A passcode/password is not required.

OCMC Legislative Branch and Executive Branch Committee



 
 

OHIO CONSTITUTIONAL MODERNIZATION COMMISSION  
 

LEGISLATIVE BRANCH AND EXECUTIVE BRANCH COMMITTEE 
 
 
 

THURSDAY, JANUARY 12, 2017 
11:00 A.M. 

OHIO STATEHOUSE ROOM 018 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
 
I. Call to Order 
 
II. Roll Call 
 
III. Approval of Minutes  
 

 Meeting of December 15, 2016 
 
  [Draft Minutes – attached] 
 
IV. Reports and Recommendations 
 

 None scheduled 
 
V. Presentations 
 

 Article II, Sections 10 and 12 (Rights and Privileges of Members of the General 
Assembly) 
 
Steven C. Hollon 
Executive Director 
 
[Draft Report and Recommendation – to be circulated at meeting] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1



 Article II, Sections 15, 16, 26, and 28 (Enacting Laws) 
 
  Steven C. Hollon 
  Executive Director 
 
  [Draft Report and Recommendation – to be circulated at meeting] 
 

 Article II, Section 8 (Sessions of the General Assembly) and  
Article II, Section 15(D) (One Subject Rule) 
 
William K. Weisenberg 
 

  [Testimony of John J. Kulewicz on the One Subject Rule of the Ohio Constitution  
  presented to the Legislative Branch and Executive Branch Committee on   
  November 12, 2015 - attached]  
 
VI. Committee Discussion 
 

 Congressional Redistricting 
 
The committee chair will lead discussion on the status of efforts to revise the 
method for redrawing Congressional districts and receive public comment from 
interested parties. 

 
VII. Next Steps  
 

 The committee chair will lead discussion regarding the next steps the committee 
wishes to take in preparation for upcoming meetings. 

 
  [Memorandum by Steven C. Hollon titled “Grouping of Article II Sections by 
  Topic for Review by the Committee,” dated April 7, 2016 – attached] 
 
  [Planning Worksheet – attached] 
 
VIII. Old Business 
 
IX. New Business 
 
X. Public Comment 
 
XI. Adjourn 

2



 

 
 

OHIO CONSTITUTIONAL MODERNIZATION COMMISSION 

 

 

MINUTES OF THE 

LEGISLATIVE BRANCH AND EXECUTIVE BRANCH COMMITTEE 

 

FOR THE MEETING HELD 

THURSDAY, DECEMBER 15, 2016 
 

Call to Order: 

 

Chair Fred Mills called the meeting of the Legislative Branch and Executive Branch Committee 

to order at 2:39 p.m. 

 

Members Present:  

  

A quorum was present with Chair Mills, Vice-chair Brooks, and committee members Curtin, 

Davidson, McColley, Talley, and Tavares in attendance.  

 

Approval of Minutes: 
 

The minutes of the November 10, 2016 meeting of the committee were approved.  

 

Reports and Recommendations: 

 

Article II, Sections 3, 4, 5, and 11 (Member Qualifications and Vacancies) 

 

Chair Mills recognized Steven C. Hollon, executive director, for the purpose of presenting to the 

committee a report and recommendation for Article II, Sections 3, 4, 5, and 11.  Mr. Hollon said 

the report and recommendation reflects the committee’s conclusion that the subject sections be 

retained in their present form.  He said the report indicates the sections require legislators to have 

lived in their districts for one year prior to election, restrict legislators to holding only one public 

office, prevent persons convicted of embezzlement from serving in the General Assembly, and 

define how vacancies in the General Assembly are to be filled.  Mr. Hollon said the report 

describes revisions to Sections 4 and 11 that resulted from the activities of the Ohio 

Constitutional Revision Commission (1970s Commission), as well as discussing litigation 

relating to the sections.  Mr. Hollon said the report and recommendation summarizes the 

committee’s conclusion that the 1970s review resulted in changes that continue to appropriately 

and effectively guide the legislature’s organization and operation, and so the report recommends 

no change to Article II, Sections 3, 4, 5, and 11. 

3



2 
 

Mr. Hollon having completed his presentation, Chair Mills asked if there were comments or 

questions.  There being none, committee member Jo Ann Davidson moved that the report and 

recommendation be issued by the committee.  The motion was seconded by Senator Charleta 

Tavares.  The committee then voted unanimously to issue the report and recommendation. 

 

Article II, Sections 6, 7, 8, 9, 13, and 14 (Conducting Business of the General Assembly) 

 

Mr. Hollon then presented a report and recommendation relating to Article II, Sections 6 through 

9, and Sections 13 and 14, all relating to the manner in which the General Assembly conducts its 

business.  Mr. Hollon said the report provides summaries of the sections, with Section 6 

outlining the powers of each house of the General Assembly, Section 7 allowing for statutes to 

prescribe the organization of the houses, Section 8 governing the legislative calendar, Section 9 

requiring a journal of proceedings, Section 13 requiring open proceedings, and Section 14 

controlling the ability of either house to adjourn.   

 

Mr. Hollon continued that the 1970s Commission, in reviewing these sections, issued a 

comprehensive report recommending the amendment of the legislative sections of Article II, and 

that these amendments were adopted by voters and continue to serve the state well.  He said the 

report and recommendation describes the limited litigation related to these sections before setting 

out the committee’s conclusion that the legislature is its own best authority for determining how 

often and how long it should meet.  Thus, Mr. Hollon said, the report and recommendation 

indicates the committee’s view that these sections should be retained in their current form. 

 

Mr. Hollon having concluded his presentation, Chair Mills asked if anyone wished to discuss or 

comment on the report.  There being no comments, Sen. Tavares then moved that the committee 

issue the report and recommendation for Article II, Sections 6, 7, 8, 9, 13, and 11, and committee 

member Petee Talley seconded the motion.  The committee then voted unanimously to issue the 

report and recommendation for no change to the subject sections. 

 

Chair Mills thanked Mr. Hollon for his presentations, and announced that the two reports and 

recommendations would now be submitted to the Coordinating Committee for its review as to 

form before being forwarded to the full Commission. 

 

Presentations and Discussion: 

 

Chair Mills announced that the committee would address the next item on its agenda, which is 

Congressional redistricting.  After providing a brief summary of the committee’s work on the 

topic to date, Chair Mills said the committee would hear from several speakers who wished to 

address the progress of discussions regarding a proposal for Congressional redistricting. 

 

Carrie L. Davis, Executive Director 

League of Women Voters of Ohio 

 

Chair Mills introduced Carrie L. Davis, executive director of the League of Women Voters of 

Ohio, who said she was appearing on behalf of the Fair Districts = Fair Elections Coalition, a 

group that formed in 2015 to work on Issue 1 on the November 2015 ballot relating to legislative 

redistricting.  She said since the passage of Issue 1, the coalition has shifted its focus to applying 

the same principles used in relation to legislative redistricting to methods for drawing 

Congressional districts.   She said the coalition concluded it could not wait indefinitely, so it 

4



3 
 

drafted an alternate proposal which she provided to the committee.
1
  She said the purpose of the 

proposal was to invite public comment. 

 

Describing the proposal, Ms. Davis said the group started with Issue 1 as its template, adapting 

the document to fit the requirements of Congressional redistricting, and suggesting revisions that 

fit on one page front and back.  She said a goal was to keep the proposal short and simple so that 

voters can understand it.  She said the proposal uses the Ohio Redistricting Commission, created 

by Issue 1, as the body that will determine the Congressional districts.  She said the remaining 

sections remain unchanged, other than being renumbered.  She identified a new Section 3 as 

spelling out criteria for drawing new districts.  Ms. Davis identified the two main criteria as 

being representational fairness and community preservation, both of which are already written 

into the Ohio Constitution by virtue of Issue 1.  She said the proposed change elevates criteria 

used in legislative redistricting from aspirational to primary goals when drawing lines for 

Congress.  She said the proposal abandons the complicated rules on splitting, trying to keep it 

simple and clear.   

 

Explaining some of the specific recommendations in the proposal, Ms. Davis said Section 

3(A)(1) explains how the number of districts is determined, while Section 3(A)(2) mirrors the 

current United States Supreme Court standard regarding the ratio of representation.  She said 

Section 3(B) allows for public submission of district plans because the coalition wanted an 

opportunity for public participation.  Ms. Davis said Section 3(C) lists criteria the redistricting 

commission would have to follow.  She said this was in response to the Ohio Supreme Court 

decision in Wilson v. Kasich, 134 Ohio St.3d 221, 2012-Ohio-5367, 981 N.E.2d 814.  She said 

the proposal gave priority to these criteria in the order in which they are listed, so there would be 

no confusion, legal question, or risk.  She said the Ohio Supreme Court pointed out current law is 

deficient in this regard, an issue the proposal resolves by setting out the specific criteria in the 

order of their importance.  She noted that Section 3(C)(1) provides that the districts must be 

composed of contiguous territory with a goal of keeping communities whole.  Section 3(C)(2) 

requires a plan to comply with all applicable provisions of federal and state law.  Section 3(C)(3) 

proposes that the redistricting commission maximize representational fairness.  Ms. Davis said 

the coalition wanted this to be a required criterion in drawing Congressional districts.  She said 

that subsection, requiring a plan “whose statewide proportion of districts most closely 

corresponds to the partisan preferences of the voters of Ohio” provides for a ten-year look back 

of Ohio voting history to see how Ohio voters voted over that period.   

 

Ms. Davis said Section 3(C)(4) prevents a plan from being drawn to favor or disfavor a political 

party or candidate, while Section 3(C)(5) provides a goal of minimizing the number of splits.  

Ms. Davis described that Section 3(C)(6) allows the redistricting commission to adopt a plan 

containing more than the fair numerical number of splits, so long as the commission explains the 

splits, why they were necessary, and how the splits serve the public interest.  She said the 

proposal also requires the commission to hold hearings and adopt a plan by a certain time.  She 

noted that the proposal does not include an impasse provision. 

 

Ms. Davis having concluded her remarks, Chair Mills asked if there were questions. 

 

Representative Mike Curtin asked about the order of the criteria contained in Section 3(C).  He 

wondered if there would be an objection to moving 4 to 3, 5 to 4, and 3 to 5, because 

                                                 
1
 A copy of the proposal is provided as Attachment A. 

5



4 
 

representational fairness as a higher goal would cause a conflict that would not be there if the 

order were switched.   Ms. Davis said the coalition had lively debates about how to order the 

requirements.  She said representational fairness was a key criterion because currently Ohio does 

not have that.  She offered to raise that issue with the coalition committee with which she is 

working. 

 

Jeff Jacobson, Commission member 

 

Chair Mills then recognized Jeff Jacobson, a participant in discussions regarding Congressional 

redistricting, who said he was present to provide a status update on the progress of discussions.  

He said, on November 7, 2016, he met with Representative Charleta Tavares, Senator-elect 

Vernon Sykes, and Ohio State University professor emeritus Richard Gunther.  He said they 

began the meeting working from the Issue 1 text, but that an outstanding issue from previous 

discussions in April 2016 was still unresolved, which is the splitting of counties.  He said his 

position was that districts should be entirely within one county if the county is big enough to 

have its own district.  He said Republicans are concerned that if cities cannot be split, the cities 

will maintain their Democratic majority.  He said cities and townships are the building block of 

Issue 1, adding that a prohibition on splitting counties protects Democrats from being 

gerrymandered but not Republicans.   

 

Mr. Jacobson said the Democrats wanted to go down as far as 15 percent, which would have 

added Dayton and Akron, but not Canton.  He said that was the entire distinction between the 

positions of the two sides, and they have not been able to bridge that gap.  He said, in an attempt 

to accomplish something, he proposed they could go down to 15 percent so long as one of the 

group of 15-to-25 percent could still be split.  He said the Democrats responded with a proposal 

to extend that to all medium counties, and both sides retired, with the hope of a deal. 

 

Mr. Jacobson said while there were some conversations by email, no response was ever given to 

that proposal.  He said a meeting was scheduled later in November, but it was canceled and has 

not been rescheduled.  He fears the reason is the testimony just given by Ms. Davis, meaning that 

Democrats wanted the proposal to go beyond his last offer.  Mr. Jacobson said he agrees the goal 

should be to avoid reproducing the same map that has been criticized and that it should not be 

possible to use the rules to guarantee a certain outcome for one party.  He added that results 

under Issue 1 are not guaranteed for either side, and that makes both sides work together.  He 

said he is dismayed that the bipartisanship of Issue 1 is being abandoned when the discussion 

group had reached a fair bipartisan compromise.  He said Professor Gunther’s insistence on 

county boundaries has been abandoned.   

 

Mr. Jacobson said the goal of the new plan, unlike Issue 1, is to dictate a one-sided political 

outcome.  He said these plans only provide lip service to protecting minority rights.  Rather, he 

said, the focus on the definition of what they are trying to achieve in terms of partisan outcomes. 

 

Chair Mills confirmed that he asked Mr. Jacobson to indicate the history of the discussions and 

that Mr. Jacobson is correct as to timing.  He said he appreciates where the discussions have 

been in the last year. 

 

Sen. Tavares said she takes exception to some of Mr. Jacobson’s comments, adding that just 

because someone believes there is a goal of gaining a partisan advantage does not mean that was 

the intent.  She said Professor Gunther, who was part of the team that was trying to negotiate, 

6



5 
 

certainly was not promoting partisanship in the discussions.  She said she would agree with the 

chair that the dates are probably accurate, and that the delay is the fault of many.  She 

recommended the committee put a date certain on when it will get a result.  She said there is a 

date certain on the proposal introduced by Ms. Davis.  Sen. Tavares continued that there has to 

be additional criteria in a Congressional district because those districts change based on the 

census, and the proposal cannot be exactly like Issue 1.  She said, from her perspective, everyone 

bears some blame, and part of the problem is there was no date certain.   

 

Mr. Jacobson said he agrees that Issue 1 is preferable to a partisan plan.  He said it cannot be a 

date certain if there is no resolution process. 

 

Rep. Curtin said he is not sure who is involved in the discussions, and is not sure who is invited 

to participate.  With regard to the proposal, he said eliminating Section 3(C)(3), relating to 

representational fairness, and elevating the priority of the requirement that jurisdictions not be 

split, are principles that people understand.  Rep. Curtin said he does not understand Mr. 

Jacobson’s concern about treating all counties the same.  Rep. Curtin continued that 68 to 78 of 

Ohio’s 88 counties are “reliably red, year in and year out.”  He said, if one is talking about blue 

counties and a need to split, the competitive counties are only 20 to 25 percent of all the counties 

of Ohio.   He said he does not understand the point about it being to the advantage of Democrats 

to not break up large counties.  He said, in his view, the goal should be not to break up any 

counties. 

 

Mr. Jacobson said one does not protect counties, but rather one protects cities and local 

governments.  He said he would protect the largest ones.  He said gerrymandering occurs when 

map drawers take a large group and cut it into little pieces.  He added the problem is the small 

counties are already small enough.  He noted “If there is no protection against gerrymandering, 

all it benefits are those few larger counties that happen to be where a lot of Democrats live.” 

 

Rep. Curtin said Ohioans have lived in counties since before Ohio became a state; people 

recognize county government.  He said he would take issue with the statement that people do not 

identify with counties.  He said he commends the draft resolution submitted by Ms. Davis.   He 

commented, “If we don’t protect counties then we are inviting gerrymanderers to split Franklin 

County more than once.” 

   

Mr. Jacobson said there ought to be protections against multiple splits because it is not possible 

to draw Congressional districts without breaking some county lines.  He said there is no such 

thing as a perfect map.  He said his objection was to being told which counties could be split. 

 

Rep. Curtin asked whether Mr. Jacobson would accept a change in the proposal that would 

remove Section 3(C)(3),  about representational fairness, and move up the requirement of 

minimizing splits, keeping the requirement of an explanation of why additional splits were 

needed. 

 

Mr. Jacobson said the plan would still require an impasse resolution, and that he could not 

support a plan that lets disputes go to federal court.  He noted the proposal does not allow 

disputes to go to an Ohio state court. 

 

Chair Mills asked where in the proposal that is stated.  Mr. Jacobson said that concept was in an 

early draft provided to him by Professor Gunther. 

7



6 
 

 

Vice-chair Paula Brooks asked, as a procedural matter, to what draft Mr. Jacobson was referring.  

Mr. Jacobson said he was given an earlier version in October.  Ms. Brooks followed up, saying 

the court provision does not appear in the current draft.  She asked when the last time was that 

the discussion group met.  Mr. Jacobson said the group met on November 17, 2016. 

 

Mr. Jacobson said his point is that there is nothing new in the proposal.  He said there are slight 

areas of disagreement but the group is close to a consensus.  He said, as drafted, the proposal 

presented by Ms. Davis is not agreed to. 

 

There being no further questions or comments, Chair Mills said the committee would meet again 

on January 12, 2017, and would continue to discuss Article II issues.  He said there has been 

some interest in discussing the one-subject rule in relation to the legislative lame-duck session.   

 

Committee member Petee Talley asked whether there are additional meetings planned for the 

Congressional redistricting subcommittee.  Chair Mills answered that he hopes the process is not 

over.  He said there have been emails suggesting next dates for a meeting but there is nothing 

scheduled at this point.  He said he hopes the committee can talk about redistricting again in 

January. 

 

Sen. Tavares asked whether the discussion group referenced by Mr. Jacobson is an ad hoc 

committee, a subcommittee, or just a group.  Chair Mills said it is just a group.  He said if the 

group can come to an agreement, he will have the subcommittee consider it. 

 

Adjournment: 

 

There being no further business to come before the committee, the meeting was adjourned at 

3:53 p.m. 

 

Approval:  
 

The minutes of the December 15, 2016 meeting of the Legislative Branch and Executive Branch 

Committee were approved at the January 12, 2017 meeting of the committee.  

 

 

 

       

Frederick E. Mills, Chair  

 

 

 

       

Paula Brooks, Vice-chair  

      

8



 

1 
 

 

 

Legislative Branch and Executive Branch Committee 
 

Planning Worksheet 

(Through December 2016 Meetings) 
  

Article II - Legislative 

 

Sec. 2 – Election and term of state legislators (1967, am. 1992) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

Completed 3.12.15 4.9.15 4.9.15 1.14.16    

 

Sec. 3 – Residence requirements for state legislators (1851, am. 1967) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

Completed 12.15.16 N/A 12.15.16     

 

Sec. 4 – Dual office and conflict of interest prohibited (1851, am. 1973) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

Completed 12.15.16 N/A 12.15.16     

 

Sec. 5 – Who shall not hold office (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

Completed 12.15.16 N/A 12.15.16     

9



 

2 
 

              
  

Sec. 6 – Powers of each house (1851, am. 1973) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

Completed 12.15.16 N/A 12.15.16     

 

Sec. 7 – Organization of each house of the General Assembly (1851, am. 1973) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

Completed 12.15.16 N/A 12.15.16     

 

Sec. 8 – Sessions of the General Assembly (1973) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

Completed 12.15.16 N/A 12.15.16     

 

Sec. 9 – House and Senate Journals (yeas and nays) (1851, am. 1973) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

Completed 12.15.16 N/A 12.15.16     

 

Sec. 10 – Rights of members to protest (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

Completed 12.15.16 N/A 12.15.16     

10



 

3 
 

 
  

Sec. 11 – Filling vacancy in House or Senate (1851, am. 1961, 1968, 1973) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

Completed 12.15.16 N/A 12.15.16     

 

Sec. 12 – Privilege of members from arrest, and of speech (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 13 – Legislative sessions to be public; exceptions (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

Completed 12.15.16 N/A 12.15.16     

 

Sec. 14 – Power of adjournment (1851, am. 1973) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

Completed 12.15.16 N/A 12.15.16     

 

Sec. 15 – How bill shall be passed (1973) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

11



 

4 
 

  

Sec. 16 – Bills to be signed by governor; veto (1851, am. 1903, 1912, 1973) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 20 – Term of office, and compensation of officers in certain cases (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 21 – Contested elections (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 22 – Appropriations (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 23 – Impeachments; how instituted and conducted (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

12



 

5 
 

 
  

Sec. 24 – Officers liable to impeachment; consequences (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 26 – Laws to have a uniform operation (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 27 – Election and appointment of officers; filling vacancies (1851, am. 1953) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 28 – Retroactive laws (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 29 – No extra compensation; exceptions (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

13



 

6 
 

 
  

Sec. 30 – New counties (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 31 – Compensation of members and officers of the General Assembly (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 32 – Divorces and judicial power (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 33 – Mechanics' and contractors' liens (1912) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 34 – Welfare of employees (1912) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

14



 

7 
 

 
  

Sec. 34a – Minimum Wage (2006) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 35 – Workers’ compensation (1912, am. 1923) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 36 – Conservation of natural resources (1912, am. 1973) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 37 – Workday and workweek on public projects (1912) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 38 – Removal of officials for misconduct (1912) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

15



 

8 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sec. 39 – Regulating expert testimony in criminal trials (1912) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 40 – Registering and warranting land titles (1912) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 41 – Prison labor (1912, am. 1978) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 42 – Continuity of government operations in emergencies caused by enemy attack (1961) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

16



 

9 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Article III - Executive 

 

Sec. 1 –  Executive department; key state officers (1851, am. 1885) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 1a –  Joint vote cast for governor and lieutenant (1976) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 1b –  Lieutenant governor duties assigned by governor (1976) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 2 –  Term of office of key state officers (1851, am. 1954, 1992) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

17



 

10 
 

 
 
 

Sec. 3 – Counting votes for key state officers (1851, am. 1976) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 5 – Executive power vested in governor (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 6 – Governor to see that laws executed; may require written information (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 7 – Governor’s annual message to General Assembly; recommendations for legislators (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 8 – Governor may convene special session of legislature with limited purposes (1851, am. 1912) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 
  

18



 

11 
 

 
  

Sec. 9 – When Governor may adjourn the legislature (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 10 – Governor is commander-in-chief of militia (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 11 – Governor may grant reprieves, commutations and pardons (1851, am. 1995) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 12 – Seal of the state, and by whom kept (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 13 – How grants and commissions issued (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

19



 

12 
 

 
  

Sec. 14 – Who is ineligible for governor (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 15 – Succession in case of vacancy in office of governor (1976) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 17 – If a vacancy shall occur while executing the office of governor, who shall act (1976) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 17a – Filling a vacancy in the office of lieutenant governor (1989) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 18  – Governor to fill vacancies in key state offices (1851, am. 1969) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

20



 

13 
 

 
  

Sec. 19 – Compensation of key state officers (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 20 – Annual report of executive officers (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 21 – Appointments to office; advice and consent of Senate (1961) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 22 – Supreme Court to determine disability of governor or governor elect; succession (1976) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

21



 

14 
 

  

Article V – Elective Franchise (Select Provision) 

 

Sec. 8 – Term limits for U.S. senators and representatives (1992) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 9 – Eligibility of office holders (1992) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Article IX - Militia 

 

Sec. 1 –  Who shall perform military duty (1851, am. 1953, 1961) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 3 –   Appointment of militia officers (1851, am. 1961) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

22



 

15 
 

 
  

Sec. 4 –  Power of governor to call forth militia (1851, am. 1961) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 5 –  Public arms; arsenals (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Article XI – Apportionment/Congressional Redistricting 

 

Sec. 1 –  Ohio Redistricting Commission (2015/2021) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

Completed 1.14.16 2.4.16      

 

Sec. 2 –  Representative for each house and senate district (2015/2021) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

23



 

16 
 

 
  

Sec. 3 –  Ratio of representation in house and senate (2015/2021) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 4 –  Formation of senate districts (2015/2021) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 5 – Term of senators on change of senate district boundaries (2015/2021) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 6 – General assembly districts; standards for drawing (2015/2021) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 7 – General assembly districts; change at end of decennial period (2015/2021) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

24



 

17 
 

 
 

Sec. 8 – Adoption of final plan; failure to adopt (2015/2021) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 9 – Supreme Court jurisdiction (2015/2021) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 10  – Severability of provisions (2015/2021) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Article XIV -  Ohio Livestock Care Standards Board (2009) 

 

Sec. 1 –  Ohio Livestock Care Standards Board (2009) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

25



 

 
 

OHIO CONSTITUTIONAL MODERNIZATION COMMISSION 
 

 

 

2017 Meeting Dates 
 

February 9 

March 9 

April 13 

May 11 

June 8 

July 13 

August 10 

September 14 

October 12 

November 9 

December 14 

 




